

## National Exhibition Centre Trust Act 1976 No 1

**Republication No 4** 

Effective: 28 March 2003

Republication date: 28 March 2003

Last amendment made by A2003-12

Authorised by the ACT Parliamentary Counsel

#### About this republication

#### The republished law

This is a republication of the *National Exhibition Centre Trust Act 1976* (including any amendment made under the *Legislation Act 2001*, part 11.3 (Editorial changes)) as in force on 28 March 2003. It also includes any amendment, repeal or expiry affecting the republished law to 28 March 2003.

The legislation history and amendment history of the republished law are set out in endnotes 3 and 4.

#### Kinds of republications

The Parliamentary Counsel's Office prepares 2 kinds of republications of ACT laws (see the ACT legislation register at www.legislation.act.gov.au):

- authorised republications to which the *Legislation Act 2001* applies
- unauthorised republications.

The status of this republication appears on the bottom of each page.

#### **Editorial changes**

The Legislation Act 2001, part 11.3 authorises the Parliamentary Counsel to make editorial amendments and other changes of a formal nature when preparing a law for republication. Editorial changes do not change the effect of the law, but have effect as if they had been made by an Act commencing on the republication date (see Legislation Act 2001, s 115 and s 117). The changes are made if the Parliamentary Counsel considers they are desirable to bring the law into line, or more closely into line, with current legislative drafting practice.

This republication does not include amendments made under part 11.3 (see endnote 1).

#### **Uncommenced provisions and amendments**

If a provision of the republished law has not commenced or is affected by an uncommenced amendment, the symbol  $\boxed{\textbf{U}}$  appears immediately before the provision heading. The text of the uncommenced provision or amendment appears only in the last endnote.

#### Modifications

If a provision of the republished law is affected by a current modification, the symbol **M** appears immediately before the provision heading. The text of the modifying provision appears in the endnotes. For the legal status of modifications, see *Legislation Act 2001*, section 95.

#### **Penalties**

The value of a penalty unit for an offence against this republished law at the republication date is—

- (a) if the person charged is an individual—\$100; or
- (b) if the person charged is a corporation—\$500.



# **National Exhibition Centre Trust Act** 1976

#### **Contents**

		Page
Part 1	Preliminary	
1	Short title	2
2	Definitions for Act	2
Part 2	Establishment, functions, powers and duties of trust	
3	Establishment of trust	3
4	Functions of trust	4
5	Powers of trust	4
6	Policy	6
R4 28/03/03	National Exhibition Centre Trust Act 1976	contents 1

Authorised when accessed at www.legislation.act.gov.au or in authorised printed form

		Page	
Part 3	Constitution and meetings of trust		
7	Constitution of trust	7	
8	Membership of trust	7	
9	Deputy chairperson	8	
11	Resignation of members Termination of appointment		
12			
13	Disclosure of pecuniary interest		
15	Leave of absence		
16	Acting appointments	10	
17	Meetings of trust	10	
Part 4	Staff		
18	Staff	12	
Part 5	Finance		
22	Application of money	13	
26	Profits of trust	13	
Part 6	By-laws		
28	Power to make by-laws	14	
Part 7	Miscellaneous		
29	Reports to Minister	15	
29A	Annual reports to refer to approvals and directions	15	
30	Saving	15	
31	Regulation-making power	15	
Schedu	lle 1 Description of national exhibition centre	16	
Endnote	s		
1	About the endnotes	17	
2	Abbreviation key	17	
3	Legislation history	18	
4	Amendment history	21	
contents	2 National Exhibition Centre Trust Act 1976	R4 28/03/03	

		Contents
		Page
5	Earlier republications	24



# **National Exhibition Centre Trust Act** 1976

An Act to establish a National Exhibition Centre Trust

### Part 1 Preliminary

#### 1 Short title

This Act may be cited as the *National Exhibition Centre Trust Act* 1976.

#### 2 Definitions for Act

In this Act:

Note A definition applies except so far as the contrary intention appears (see Legislation Act 2001, s 155).

by-laws means by-laws made by the trust under this Act.

chairperson means the chairperson of the trust.

*deputy chairperson* means the member holding office under section 9 (1).

#### *member* means—

- (a) the chairperson; or
- (b) a member of the trust other than the chairperson.

national exhibition centre means the land described in schedule 1.

*trust* means the National Exhibition Centre Trust established by section 3.

## Part 2 Establishment, functions, powers and duties of trust

#### 3 Establishment of trust

- (1) There shall be a body to be known as the National Exhibition Centre Trust.
- (2) The body that existed by virtue of the section for which this section was substituted, under the name of the Canberra Showground Trust continues in existence, by force of this subsection, under the name of the National Exhibition Centre Trust.
- (3) The alteration of name effected by subsection (2) does not affect any property, powers, rights, authorities, duties, functions, liabilities or obligations of the trust continued in existence by force of that subsection or render defective any legal or other proceedings instituted or to be instituted by or against the trust, and any legal or other proceedings may be continued or commenced by or against the trust by the name of the National Exhibition Centre Trust that might have been continued or commenced by or against the trust by the name of the Canberra Showground Trust.
- (4) All courts, judges and persons acting judicially shall take judicial notice of—
  - (a) the seal of the National Exhibition Centre Trust affixed to a document after the commencement of this section; and
  - (b) the seal of the Canberra Showground Trust affixed to a document before the commencement of this section.

#### 4 Functions of trust

The functions of the trust are—

- (a) to manage the national exhibition centre; and
- (b) to conduct, on the national exhibition centre, exhibitions and shows and sporting, recreational and cultural activities; and
- (c) to conduct, on the national exhibition centre, such other activities as the Minister approves; and
- (d) to provide, on the national exhibition centre, such buildings, structures, arenas and facilities, whether permanent or temporary, as are necessary for, or incidental to, the conduct of the exhibitions, shows and activities referred to in paragraph (b) or (c); and
- (e) to conduct, on land held by the trust under lease, such activities or undertakings as the trust thinks fit, being activities or undertakings that are authorised by the lease of the land.

#### 5 Powers of trust

- (1) Subject to this Act, the trust has power to do all things necessary or convenient to be done for or in connection with, or as incidental to, the performance of its functions under this Act and, in particular, has power—
  - (a) to hold land under lease and to assign or surrender leases; and
  - (b) to grant subleases; and
  - (c) to acquire, hold and dispose of personal property; and
  - (d) to enter into contracts, other than contracts of employment; and
  - (f) to grant licences to persons to use the national exhibition centre, or part of the national exhibition centre, or land held by the trust under lease for purposes for which the trust is authorised to use the national exhibition centre or that land; and

- (g) to make charges for admission to the national exhibition centre and land held by the trust under lease; and
- (h) to grant, subject to such charges and other terms and conditions as the trust thinks fit, rights to televise, broadcast, film or record activities conducted at the national exhibition centre or on land held by the trust under lease; and
- (j) to make charges for the use of facilities and services provided by the trust at the national exhibition centre or on land held by the trust under lease; and
- (k) to advertise and promote activities conducted at the national exhibition centre or on land held by the trust; and
- (l) to give prizes and awards to persons in connection with activities conducted at the national exhibition centre or on land held by the trust under lease.
- (2) Except with the approval of the Minister, the trust shall not—
  - (a) hold land under a lease other than a lease granted by the Commonwealth; or
  - (b) erect buildings on the national exhibition centre or on land held by the trust under lease; or
  - (c) enter into a contract involving the payment or receipt of an amount exceeding \$50 000; or
  - (d) carry out, or join in carrying out, works on land other than land of which the trust has the control or is the lessee; or
  - (e) assign or mortgage a lease; or
  - (f) grant a sublease for a term exceeding 1 year.

#### 6 Policy

- (1) The Minister may give directions to the trust with respect to the general policy, including the financial policy, to be adopted by the trust and the trust shall comply with any directions so given.
- (2) Subject to any directions given by the Minister under subsection (1), the trust shall pursue a financial policy directed towards securing revenue sufficient to meet all its expenditure properly chargeable against revenue.

## Part 3 Constitution and meetings of trust

#### 7 Constitution of trust

- (1) The trust—
  - (a) is a body corporate; and
  - (b) shall have a seal; and
  - (c) may sue and be sued in its corporate name.
- (2) All courts, judges and persons acting judicially shall take judicial notice of the seal of the trust affixed to a document and shall presume that it was duly affixed.

#### 8 Membership of trust

- (1) The trust is to consist of—
  - (a) the chairperson of the trust; and
  - (b) a public servant; and
  - (c) not less than 5 or more than 7 other members.
- (3) The members shall be appointed by the Minister.
- (4) Subject to this Act, the member referred to in subsection (1) (b) ceases to be a member if he or she ceases to be a public servant.
- (6) A member referred to in subsection (1) (a) or (c) holds office for such period, not exceeding 3 years, as is specified in the relevant instrument of appointment.
- (7) A member is eligible for reappointment.
- (8) The performance of the functions, or the exercise of the powers, of the trust is not affected by reason of there being a vacancy or vacancies in the membership of the trust.

R4 28/03/03

#### 9 Deputy chairperson

- (1) The trust shall appoint a member to be the deputy chairperson of the
- (2) The member appointed as deputy chairperson holds office until the expiration of his or her term of office as a member that is current at the time of his or her appointment but ceases to be the deputy chairperson if he or she ceases to be a member or resigns his or her office of deputy chairperson.
- (3) The member appointed as deputy chairperson may resign his or her office of deputy chairperson by writing under his or her hand delivered to the chairperson or, if the office of chairperson is vacant or the chairperson is absent from the Territory, to the Minister.
- (4) A member is eligible to be reappointed as deputy chairperson.

#### 11 Resignation of members

A member may resign his or her office of member by writing under his or her hand delivered to the Minister.

#### 12 Termination of appointment

- (1) The Minister may remove a member from office on the ground of misbehaviour, physical or mental incapacity or invalidity.
- (2) If a member—
  - (a) becomes bankrupt, applies to take the benefit of any law for the relief of bankrupt or insolvent debtors, compounds with his or her creditors or makes an assignment of his or her remuneration for their benefit; or
  - (b) is absent without leave of the trust from 3 consecutive meetings of the trust; or
  - (c) without reasonable excuse, fails to comply with his or her obligations under section 13;

the Minister shall remove him or her from office.

(3) The Minister may at any time terminate the appointment of the member referred to in section 8 (1) (b).

#### 13 Disclosure of pecuniary interest

- (1) A member who has a direct or indirect pecuniary interest in a matter being considered or about to be considered by the trust shall, as soon as possible after the relevant facts have come to his or her knowledge, disclose the nature of his or her interest at a meeting of the trust.
- (2) A disclosure under subsection (1) shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting of the trust and the member shall not, unless the Minister or the trust otherwise determines—
  - (a) be present during any deliberation of the trust with respect to that matter; or
  - (b) take part in any decision of the trust with respect to that matter.
- (3) For the purpose of making a determination by the trust under subsection (2) in relation to a member who has made a disclosure under subsection (1), a member who has a direct or indirect pecuniary interest in a matter to which the disclosure relates shall not—
  - (a) be present during any deliberation of the trust for the purpose of making the determination; or
  - (b) take part in the making by the trust of the determination.

#### 15 Leave of absence

The Minister may grant leave of absence to a member upon such terms and conditions as the trust determines.

R4 28/03/03

#### 16 Acting appointments

- (1) The Minister may, in writing, appoint a person to act as a member—
  - (a) during a vacancy in the office of a member, whether or not an appointment has previously been made to the office; or
  - (b) during any period, or during all periods, when a member is absent from duty or from the Territory or is, for any other reason, unable to perform the functions of the office;

but a person appointed to act during a vacancy shall not continue so to act for more than 12 months.

- (2) Anything done by, or in relation to, a person purporting to act under this section is not invalid on the ground that—
  - (a) the occasion for the person's appointment had not arisen; or
  - (b) there is a defect or irregularity in connection with the person's appointment; or
  - (c) the person's appointment has ceased to have effect; or
  - (d) the occasion for the action had not arisen.

#### 17 Meetings of trust

- (1) The trust shall hold such meetings as are necessary for performance of its functions but so that not more than 2 months elapse between any 2 successive meetings.
- (2) The chairperson or, if for any reason the chairperson is not available, the deputy chairperson—
  - (a) may convene meetings of the trust; and
  - (b) shall, on receipt of a written request signed by 2 members, convene a meeting of the trust.
- (3) The chairperson and deputy chairperson shall comply with any directions of the trust with respect to the convening of meetings.

- (4) The chairperson shall preside at all meetings of the trust at which he or she is present.
- (5) At a meeting of the trust at which the chairperson is not present the deputy chairperson shall preside.
- (6) At a meeting of the trust—
  - (a) if the number of persons holding office as members is not less than 7—4 members, of whom one is the chairperson or the deputy chairperson, constitute a quorum; and
  - (b) if the number of persons holding office as members is less than 7—3 members, of whom one is the chairperson or the deputy chairperson, constitute a quorum.
- (7) Questions arising at a meeting of the trust shall be determined by a majority of the votes of the members present and voting.
- (8) At a meeting of the trust, the member presiding has a deliberative vote and, in the event of equality of votes, also has a casting vote.

#### Part 4 Staff

#### 18 Staff

- (1) The trust may make arrangements with the chief executive for the use of the services of public servants in the administrative unit under the chief executive's control.
- (2) The *Public Sector Management Act 1994* applies in relation to the management by the trust of public servants who are the subject of an arrangement under subsection (1).

#### Part 5 Finance

#### 22 Application of money

- (1) The moneys of the trust may be applied by the trust—
  - (a) in payment or discharge of the costs, expenses or other obligations incurred by the trust in connection with the performance by the trust of its functions under this Act; and
  - (b) in payment of fees and allowances payable to members and to employees of the trust.

#### 26 Profits of trust

- (1) For this Act, the profits of the trust for a financial year are the amount (if any) remaining after deducting from the revenue received or receivable in respect of that financial year in connection with the operations of the trust the expenditure, and provision for expenditure, properly chargeable against that revenue.
- (2) The profits of the trust for a financial year shall be applied in such manner as the Minister determines.
- (3) In making a determination under subsection (2), the Minister shall have regard to any advice given to him or her by the trust in relation to its financial affairs.

### Part 6 By-laws

#### 28 Power to make by-laws

(1) The trust may, under its common seal and with the Minister's approval, make by-laws for this Act in relation to the management and control of the national exhibition centre.

Note By-laws must be notified, and presented to the Legislative Assembly, under the Legislation Act 2001.

- (2) The by-laws may make provision in relation to—
  - (a) the regulation or prevention of the possession, supply and consumption of liquor within the meaning of the *Liquor Act* 1975 at the national exhibition centre; and
  - (b) the regulation of admission of persons to, the removal of persons from, and the conduct of persons at, the national exhibition centre; and
  - (c) the regulation of traffic at the national exhibition centre.
- (3) The by-laws may prescribe offences for contraventions of the bylaws and prescribe maximum penalties of not more than 1 penalty unit for offences against the by-laws.

#### Part 7 Miscellaneous

#### 29 Reports to Minister

The trust shall—

- (a) from time to time inform the Minister concerning the general conduct of its operations; and
- (b) furnish to the Minister such information relating to those operations as the Minister requires.

#### 29A Annual reports to refer to approvals and directions

The trust shall include in each report it presents under the *Annual Reports (Government Agencies) Act 1995*, section 8 details of—

- (a) any approvals given by the Minister under section 4 (c), 5 (2) or 28 (1); and
- (b) any direction given by the Minister under section 6 (1); during the period to which the report relates.

#### 30 Saving

Nothing in this Act affects the operation of the *Racing Act 1999* or the *Gaming and Betting Act 1906*.

#### 31 Regulation-making power

The Executive may make regulations for this Act.

*Note* Regulations must be notified, and presented to the Legislative Assembly, under the *Legislation Act 2001*.

R4 28/03/03

## Schedule 1 Description of national exhibition centre

(see s 2)

All that piece of land in the Canberra Central and Gungahlin Districts of the Australian Capital Territory containing an area of 40.4151ha more or less; commencing at a point on the northeastern side of Flemington Road on a line bearing 319° 52′ 50″ for 87.813m from the intersection of that side of that road with the northwestern side of Northbourne Avenue as described in Computation Sheet D. 2120-6090 catalogued in the Australian Survey Office, Canberra; and bounded thence on the southwest by lines bearing consecutively 357° 22′ 30″ for 329.369m and 349° 08′ for 204m; thence on the northwest by lines bearing consecutively 189.76m of an arc of radius 380m the chord of which lies to the southeast and bears 16° 33′30″ for 187.794m, 25° 26′ for 55.22m, 37° 10′ for 25.218m and 56° 12′ for 83.565m; thence on the northeast by lines bearing consecutively 97° for 270m, 120° for 240m and 255.283m of an arc of radius 300m the chord of which lies to the southwest and bears 164° 9′ 50" for 247.65m; thence on the southeast by a line bearing 229° 51′ 55″ for 778.512m; thence by a straight line to the point of commencement.

#### **Endnotes**

#### 1 About the endnotes

Amending and modifying laws are annotated in the legislation history and the amendment history. Current modifications are not included in the republished law but are set out in the endnotes.

Not all editorial amendments made under the *Legislation Act 2001*, part 11.3 are annotated in the amendment history. Full details of any amendments can be obtained from the Parliamentary Counsel's Office.

Uncommenced amending laws and expiries are listed in the legislation history and the amendment history. These details are underlined. Uncommenced provisions and amendments are not included in the republished law but are set out in the last endnote.

If all the provisions of the law have been renumbered, a table of renumbered provisions gives details of previous and current numbering.

The endnotes also include a table of earlier republications.

If the republished law includes penalties, current information about penalty unit values appears on the republication inside front cover.

#### 2 Abbreviation key

am = amended amdt = amendment ch = chapter cl = clause def = definition dict = dictionary

disallowed = disallowed by the Legislative

Assembly

div = division exp = expires/expired Gaz = Gazette hdg = heading

IA = Interpretation Act 1967 ins = inserted/added LA = Legislation Act 2001 LR = legislation register

LRA = Legislation (Republication) Act 1996

mod = modified / modification

No = number num = numbered o = order

om = omitted/repealed

ord = ordinance
orig = original
p = page
par = paragraph
pres = present
prev = previous
(prev...) = previously
prov = provision

pt = part
r = rule/subrule
reg = regulation/subregulation

renum = renumbered
reloc = relocated
R[X] = Republication No

RI = reissue

s = section/subsection sch = schedule sdiv = subdivision sub = substituted SL = Subordinate Law

<u>underlining</u> = whole or part not commenced

or to be expired

R4 28/03/03 National Exhibition Centre Trust Act 1976

page 17

#### 3 Legislation history

This Act was originally a Commonwealth ordinance—the *Canberra Showground Trust Ordinance 1976* No 1 (Cwlth).

It was renamed as the *National Exhibition Centre Trust Ordinance 1976* by the *National Exhibition Centre Trust Ordinance 1982* No 37 (see s 3 (2)).

The Australian Capital Territory (Self-Government) Act 1988 (Cwlth), s 34 (4) converted most former Commonwealth ordinances in force in the ACT into ACT enactments. This allowed the ACT Legislative Assembly to amend and repeal the laws. This Act was converted into an ACT enactment on 11 May 1989 (self-government day).

As with most ordinances in force in the ACT, the name was changed from *Ordinance* to *Act* by the *Self-Government (Citation of Laws) Act 1989* No 21, s 5 on 11 May 1989 (self-government day).

Before 11 May 1989, ordinances commenced on notification day unless otherwise stated (see *Seat of Government (Administration) Act 1910* (Cwlth), s 12).

After 11 May 1989 and before 10 November 1999, Acts commenced on notification day unless otherwise stated (see *Australian Capital Territory (Self-Government) Act* 1988 (Cwlth), s 25).

#### Legislation before becoming Territory enactment

#### National Exhibition Centre Trust Act 1976 No 1

notified 3 February 1976 commenced 3 February 1976

as amended by

#### Ordinances Revision (Remuneration) Ordinance 1976 No 61 s 8

notified 16 November 1976 commenced 16 November 1976

#### Ordinances Revision (Administrative Arrangements) Ordinance 1978 No 11 s 3, sch

notified 11 May 1978 s 3, sch commenced 11 May 1978 (s 2 (1))

#### Ordinances Revision Ordinance 1978 No 46 sch 2

notified 28 December 1978 (Cwlth Gaz 1978 No S292) commenced 28 December 1978

#### Canberra Showground Trust (Amendment) Ordinance 1980 No 26

notified 29 July 1980 commenced 29 July 1980

## Commonwealth Functions (Statutes Review) Act 1981 No 74 pt 2, div 5

assented to 18 June 1981 pt 2, div 5 commenced 14 December 1981 (Cwlth Gaz 1981 No S258)

#### National Exhibition Centre Trust Ordinance 1982 No 37

notified 30 June 1982 commenced 1 July 1982 (s 2)

## National Exhibition Centre Trust (Amendment) Ordinance 1983 No 19 notified 19 August 1983

commenced 19 August 1983

#### National Exhibition Centre Trust (Amendment) Ordinance 1986 No 95

notified 12 January 1987 commenced 12 January 1987

#### Self-Government (Consequential Amendments) Ordinance 1989 No 38 sch 1

notified 10 May 1989 (Cwlth Gaz 1989 No S160) s 1, s 2 commenced 10 May 1989 (s 2 (1)) sch 1 commenced 11 May 1989 (s 2 (2) and Cwlth Gaz 1989 No S164)

## Remuneration (Miscellaneous Amendments) Ordinance 1989 No 50 sch

notified 10 May 1989 sch commenced 10 May 1989

#### Legislation after becoming Territory enactment

#### Director of Public Prosecutions (Consequential Provisions) Act 1990 No 23 sch

notified 25 June 1990 (Gaz 1990 No S32) s 1, s 2 commenced 25 June 1990 (s 2 (1)) sch commenced 1 July 1990 (Gaz 1990 No S44)

R4 28/03/03

#### Statutory Authorities (Audit Arrangements) Act 1990 No 25 pt 12

notified 22 June 1990 (Gaz 1990 No S29)

s 1, s 2 commenced 22 June 1990 (s 2 (1))

pt 12 commenced 22 June 1990 (s 2 (2) and Gaz 1990 No S35)

#### National Exhibition Centre Trust (Amendment) Act 1992 No 14

notified 2 June 1992 (Gaz 1992 No S62)

commenced 2 June 1992

### Statute Law Revision (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1992 No 23 sch 1

notified 4 June 1992 (Gaz 1992 No S71)

sch 1 commenced 4 June 1992

#### Statute Law Revision Act 1994 No 26 sch

notified 31 May 1994 (Gaz 1994 No S93)

sch commenced 31 May 1994 (s 2)

## Public Sector Management (Consequential and Transitional Provisions) Act 1994 No 38 sch 1 pt 61

notified 30 June 1994 (Gaz 1994 No S121)

s 1, s 2 commenced 30 June 1994 (s 2 (1))

sch 1 pt 61 commenced 1 July 1994 (s 2 (2) and Gaz 1994 No S142)

## Financial Management and Audit (Consequential and Transitional Provisions) Act 1996 No 26 sch pt 22

notified 1 July 1996 (Gaz 1996 No S130)

sch pt 22 commenced 1 July 1996 (s 2)

## Remuneration Tribunal (Consequential Amendments) Act 1997 No 41 sch 1 (as am by Act 2002 No 49 amdt 3.222)

notified 19 September 1997 (Gaz 1997 No S264)

commenced 24 September 1997 (s 2 as am by Act 2002 No 49 amdt 3.222)

## Acts Revision (Taxation of Territory Authorities) Act 1998 No 35 sch pt 1

notified 14 October 1998 (Gaz 1998 No 41)

sch pt 1 commenced 14 October 1998 (s 2)

#### Racing Act 1999 No 1 sch 3

notified 26 February 1999 (Gaz 1999 No S7) s 1, s 2 commenced 26 February 1999 (s 2 (1)) sch 3 commenced 1 July 2001 (s 2 (2) and Gaz 2001 No S42)

#### Legislation (Consequential Amendments) Act 2001 No 44 pt 256

notified 26 July 2001 (Gaz 2001 No 30) s 1, s 2 commenced 26 July 2001 (IA s 10B) pt 256 commenced 12 September 2001 (s 2 and see Gaz 2001 No S65)

#### Statute Law Amendment Act 2002 (No 2) No 49 amdt 3.222

notified LR 20 December 2002

s 1, s 2 taken to have commenced 7 October 1994 (LA s 75 (2))

amdt 3.222 commenced 24 September 1997 (s 2 (3))

Note This Act only amends the Remuneration Tribunal (Consequential Amendments) Act 1997 No 41.

## Taxation (Government Business Enterprises) Act 2003 A2003-12 sch 1 pt 1.7

notified LR 27 March 2003 s 1, s 2 taken to have commenced 1 July 2002 (LA s 75 (2)) sch 1 pt 1.7 commenced 28 March 2003 (s 2 (2))

#### 4 Amendment history

#### Title

title sub 1982 No 37 s 4

#### Short title

s 1 am 1986 No 95 s 3 (see also 1982 No 37 s 3 (2))

#### **Definitions for Act**

s 2 def **approved bank** om 1982 No 37 s 5

def Canberra Showground om 1982 No 37 s 5

def *chairperson* am 1992 No 14 s 5

def *deputy chairperson* am 1992 No 14 s 5 def *House of Assembly* ins 1983 No 19 s 3

om 1989 No 38 sch 1

def Legislative Assembly om 1982 No 37 s 5

def *member* am 1992 No 14 s 5

def **National Exhibition Centre** ins 1982 No 37 s 5 def **Public Service Board** am 1982 No 37 s 5

om 1989 No 38 sch 1 def *trust* am 1982 No 37 s 5

R4 28/03/03 National Exhibition Centre Trust Act 1976

page 21

#### 4 Amendment history

**Establishment of trust** 

s 3 sub 1982 No 37 s 6

**Functions of trust** 

s 4 am 1982 No 37 s 7

Powers of trust

s 5 am 1982 No 37 s 8; 1994 No 38 sch 1 pt 61; R3 LA

**Policy** 

s 6 sub 1982 No 37 s 9

**Constitution of trust** 

s 7 am 1982 No 37 s 10

Membership of trust

s 8 am 1982 No 37 s 11; 1983 No 19 s 4; 1986 No 95 s 4; 1989 No

38 sch 1; 1992 No 14 s 5; 1992 No 23 sch 1

**Deputy chairperson** 

s 9 hdg sub 1992 No 14 note s 9 am 1992 No 14 s 5

Remuneration and allowances

s 10 sub 1976 No 61 s 8; 1989 No 50 sch

om 1997 No 41 sch 1

**Termination of appointment** 

s 12 am 1986 No 95 s 5; 1989 No 38 sch 1

Disclosure of pecuniary interest

s 13 sub 1982 No 37 s 12

**Termination of appointment** 

s 14 om 1982 No 37 s 13

**Acting appointments** 

s 16 am 1982 No 37 s 14; 1983 No 19 s 5; 1989 No 38 sch 1

sub 1992 No 23 sch 1

**Meetings of trust** 

s 17 am 1986 No 95 s 6; 1992 No 14 s 5; 1994 No 26 sch

Staff

s 18 sub Cwlth Act 1981 No 74 s 33

am 1989 No 38 sch 1; 1992 No 14 s 3

sub 1994 No 38 sch 1 pt 61

Personnel management

s 18A ins 1992 No 14 s 4

om 1994 No 38 sch 1 pt 61

Definition

s 19 om 1982 No 37 s 15

National Exhibition Centre Trust Act 1976

R4

28/03/03

Borrowing by the trust

s 20 om 1982 No 37 s 15

**Bank accounts** 

s 21 om 1982 No 37 s 15

**Application of money** 

s 22 am 1978 No 11 s 3, sch; 1982 No 37 s 16

Accounts

s 23 om 1982 No 37 s 17

**Annual report** 

s 24 am 1978 No 11 s 3, sch

om 1982 No 37 s 17

**Audit** 

s 25 om 1982 No 37 s 17

**Profits of trust** 

s 26 am 1978 No 11 s 3, sch; 1982 No 37 s 18; 1989 No 38 sch 1

Liability for ACT taxes etc

s 27 am 1982 No 37 s 19

om 1996 No 26 sch pt 22 ins 1998 No 35 sch pt 1 om A2003-12 amdt 1.9

**Audit Act to apply** 

s 27A ins 1990 No 25 s 15

om 1996 No 26 sch pt 22

Financial reporting and audit

s 27B ins 1990 No 25 s 15

am 1994 No 26 sch om 1996 No 26 sch pt 22

Power to make by-laws

s 28 am 1978 No 46 sch 2; 1982 No 37 s 20; 1990 No 23 sch; 2001

No 44 amdts 1.2904-1.2907

Annual reports to refer to approvals and directions

s 29A ins 1996 No 26 sch pt 22

Saving

s 30 am 1999 No 1 sch 3

Regulation-making power

s 31 am 1989 No 38 sch 1

sub 2001 No 44 amdt 1.2908

R4

National Exhibition Centre Trust Act 1976

page 23

#### **Endnotes**

#### 5 Earlier republications

#### **Description of National Exhibition Centre**

sch 1 hdg (prev sch hdg) sub 1980 No 26 s 2

äm 1982 No 37 s 21; R3 LA

sch sub 1980 No 26 s 2

#### 5 Earlier republications

Since 12 September 2001 every authorised republication has been published in electronic pdf format on the ACT legislation register. A selection of authorised republications have also been published in printed format. These republications are marked with an asterisk (\*) in column 1. Except for the footer, electronic and printed versions of an authorised republication are identical.

Some earlier republications were not numbered. The number in column 1 refers to the publication order.

Republication No	Amendments to	Republication date
1	Act 1992 No 23	4 June 1992
2	Act 1997 No 41	31 December 1997
3	Act 2001 No 44	30 November 2001
3 (RI)	Act 2001 No 44 ‡	12 February 2003

<sup>‡</sup> includes retrospective amendments by Act 2002 No 49

#### © Australian Capital Territory 2003